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3,826,857,998

2020 2019
(73,906,539) 320,207,628
1,030,551,699 (799,972,070)

956,645,160 (479,764,442)
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2020
27,975,005,033 27,975,005,033
27,975,005,033 27,975,005,033
2019
28,885,344,384 28,885,344,384
28,885,344,384 28,885,344 ,384
2020 31
2019

3,826,857,998

3,826,857,998

3,826,857,998

3,826,857,998
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2019

100
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132,884.000

100

49,900,000
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30,032,508 24,308,102
2,942,474,520 24,308,102
2020 2019

4 3,652,353,243
2020 2019
1,311,811,793 25,230,280
HSBC
2020 2019
10,000 10,000
10,000 10,000
49,900,000
100 100
2020 2019
4,990,000 4,990,000
12,617 13,288

771215




14

15

16

17

126,

2020
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2020 2019
132,884 138,633
11,160
(17,870) (5,749)
126,174 132,884

2020 31
2019  28,856,343,393
2019
2020 31
25,740,183,887 2019  10,473,997,852 FVPL
100 2019 100
1,323,146,272 2020 31

2019 23,452,632
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2020 2019

110.73 100.10

13.26
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oo 10.79 .79
oo 119 7.3
2020 2019 31
2020 2019
85,277,500
16,924,200 20,140,200
21,673,300
90,516,400
39,804,400
27,353,700
17,793,600
16,060,000
2,465,000
135,016,179 154,425,819
2,052,549,400 2,413,376,199
3,826,800
12,471,200 14,715,200
5,994,881,408 6,536,775,304
751,840,403 789,026,402
1,435,438,800
1,869,344,995 2,534,001,050
30,650,100
8,316,000
93,492,400
301,488,100 225,720,000
248,843,399 248,784,000
4,036,679,992 5,371,292,404
296,584,000 380,352,000
389,008,000 355,681,400
239,958,407 338,694,405

833,475,300 153,100,000
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78,699,600
750,314,700
1,353,300
72,438,000
99,748,700
1,049,178,750
4,950,467,603
71,717,100
201,600
10,329,200
1,028,580,497
1,740,000
808,503,000

103,572,000
49,887,999

6,256,025,000

2,120,958,002

818,817,000

27,975,005,033

28,885,344,384

2020

2019

3,826,857,998

3,826,857,998

90
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32,766,092,227

31
2019
HSBC AA- 2019 A
2019 A+
IFRS
IFRS ECL

1,591,760,268 2019

IFRS

IFRS
IFRS

18

19
2020

2020
3,880,747,843
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29,566,765,301 2019

2020 2019
2019
HSBC
S&P
A+
31
1,208,609,416 6,000
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TIWETR K -FUML

STATEMENT OF FINANCLAL POSITION

31 March 2020

Motes 020 201G

Iy JFY

ASLpTs
Tinancial pszces a1 Gair value traugh profit or oss Tk 25204342098 ZB.BSA, 341 307
Amounts dog from T F Limfred 14 1,323,146,272 23 432 32
Cash and cash cquivalenls ] 4'.'-'4,2_9_2 453,332
TTAL ASSCTS 0,547 969,562 28,8K0,255,357
LIAMILITIES
Redemptivn payahls 12 1,501 &8 400 -
Aceotiuls payeble and asenied Labilides 4313244 26,143 938
FOFCAL LIARILITILS 1,325 961 634 26,143 50y
EQUITY
Uni: capital 1 2IE2O07H1E  24,854,011,350
TOTAL BOUTTY 15262007018 A8.894,111. 358
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 16,357,969,562  2%,850,255.357
MLMDCR O REDEEMABLE UNTIS |N ISSUE 10 141,673 146,667
NET ARSET VALUE PER REDEFMABLE UNIT Ll 17B, 310 196,?2

Ea |||I
!
I' Hlﬂw-'m II E&M@/"_— ATED
I'l.---------I------------ e p ke bR I L O
t«%isl‘l [er tnd on hehal faf
HYBU Trustes (Cayman) Litnited
Imztes

o f

The accompatying ores Arc an integral part of these [inunria] statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR. LOSS AND OTHER. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 March 2020

INCOME
Sundry income

EXPENSES

Andit fee

Investment management fee
Legal and professional fees
Other expenses

LOS5 BEFORE INVESTMENT AND EXCHANGE
DIFFERENCES

INVESTMENT AND EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES
Net change in unrealised losses on financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss
Net realised gains on financial assets at fair value

though profit or loss
Net exchange differences

LOSS FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL
COMPEEHENSIVE INCOME FOR. THE YEAR.

2020 2019
PY IPY

- 11

- 11

2,880,403 2,930,963
268,835,663 298,506,552
2,666,502 3,360,271
1,304,513 1,332,075
936,837 1,886,883
276,623,920 308,016,744
(276,623,920)  (308,016.733)
(4.162,415975)  (4,733,921,573)
1,790,880,587  2,415,103,089
70,169 (194.359)
(2371456219)  (2,319.012.843)
(2.648,080,139)  (2,627.029,576)

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these financial statements.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 March 2020
Number of
umits Uit Total
outstanding capital equity
JBFY IPY
Balance at 31 March 2018 149,477 32067365349 32067363349
Redemptions during the year (2,810) (386,224 614) (386,224 614)
Loss for the year and total
comprehensive ncome for the year - (2627029576  (2,627,020,576)
Balance at 31 March 2019 146,667 28854111359 28834111359
Subscriptions during the year 13,459 2.400,000,000 2.400,000,000
Redemptions during the year {18.451) (3,344.023.302)  (3,344.023.302)
Loss for the year and total
comprehensive ncome for the year - (26480801397  (2,648,080,139)
Balance at 31 March 2020 141,675 25262007018  25262,00791%

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these financial statements
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TOWEE K1 J-FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 March 2020
Motes 2020 2019
IFY IFY
CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year and total comprehensive income
for the year (2.648.080,139)  (2,627.029.576)
Purchase of financial assets at fair valoe through profit or loss (2,400,359 7600 -
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 3,620,827 767 1,302,748.001
Wet change in unrealized losses on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss 4162415975 4733921573
Net realised gaims on financial assets at fair valoe through
profit or lozs (1,790,889 587y  (2.415.103.089)
(Increase)/'decreaze in amounts due from TE1 J Limited (1,299 693 _640) 1,721,170,952
Decrease in performance fae payable - (408,778.255)
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,830,754) (3,856,232)
Net cash (outflows)/mflows from operating activities (357,610,138) 2303073 464
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of redeemable units 12 2.400,000,000 -
Bedemptions of redeemable units 12 (2.042374902)  (2.303,329.239)
Mat cash inflows/(outflows) from financing activities 357,625,098 (2,303 520 250)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 14,960 (435.793)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9 450332 015127
CASH AWD CASHEQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR o 474,292 459 332
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank ) 474,292 439 332

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

L THE FUND

Tower K1 J-Fund (the "Fund”™) is registered under the Cayman Islands Mutual Funds Law and is
established under the laws of the Cayman [slands and constituted by a Trust Deed dated 30 March
1999 as amended. made between Bank of Bermuda (Cayman) Limited as trustee and Tower Asset
Management Limited as manager (the "Manager"). Effective from 29 December 2017, Bank of
Bermuda (Cayman) Linmited (the “Retining Trustee™) was retired and HSBC Trustee {Ca}mm]
Linuted was appointed as the trustee (the “Trustes™) of the Fund on the same date.

The Fund commenced operations on 30 March 1990, It operates as a feeder fund to TE1 J Limited
(the "Master Fund™), an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 January 2001
and a regulated mutual fund under section 4(3) of the Mutual Funds Law (2015 Revision) of Cayman
Islands, whose investment objectrves nmrror those of the Fund. The Manager of the Master Fund 1s
also Tower Asset Management Limited The Fund iz cumrently the only investor in the Master Fund.
Redeemable participating shares in the Master Fund were i1ssued to the Trustee to be held in trust for
the Fund.

The Fund's investment objectives are to preserve capital and to maximise capital gains, regardless of
the direction of global stock markets or mterest rates. The Manager will seek to achieve the investment
objectives of the Fund principally by identifying and acquinng undervalued equities and denvative
mstruments of selected Japanese companies in order to effect hedged positions and will identify such
other mvestments as may otherwise mean the objectives of the Fund can be attained

The Manager will seek to achieve the mvestment objectives of the Fund by creating leveraged and
risk controlled hedged positions principally invelving Japanese commeon stocks or related denivative
mstruments. When it believes such mvestments offer opportunities consistent with the Fund's
mvestment objectives, the Manager may also identify and acquire equity securities, equity warrants,
mterests in other equity funds, comvertible bonds and other derivative mstruments, and may establish
uncoverad long or short positions, as investment rather than as part of hedged positions.

The Manager will not be restricted in the types of hedging mechanisms or other strategies it may use
provided that it believes that they are appropriate to achieve the Fund's investment cbjectives. The
hedging mechanizms will inclode use of vanious forms of securities options, index futures and options.
Hedging positions may include Japanese Euro-dollar equity warrants, other warrants, convertible bond
portfolios and common stocks which, from fime to time, may be different from those actually covered
by related warrants or convertible bonds hedged Uncovered long or short pesitions may occur during
the process of creating or unwinding a hedged position or may be acquired as part of the Fund's
mvestment sirategy. It 1s anticipated that positions will generally be held between two months and
three months. While transactions may be effected m amy currency, the Manager does not intend to use
curmency positions as part of its investment strategy.

As at the end of reporting date, the Fund owns 100% of the redeemable participating shares of the
Master Fund.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

L THE FUND (contimued)

The Manager anticipates that the Fund will continue a further period of up to twenty years from 22
January 2002 depending on the performance of the Fund and may be extended at the Manager's
discretion or until the Fund is terminated as otherwise provided in the Trust Deed. The Manager may
also terminate the Fund when the net asset value of the Fund fallz below JPY100 nullion.

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
21 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF FREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared m accordance with IFRSs issned by the International
Accounting Standard Board (“IASB™) and interpretations issued by the Intemational Finaneial
Reporting Interpretation Commuttee of LASB.

The finaneial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets and
liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, that have been measured at fair value. The preparation
of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the ameunts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Management believes that the estimates utilised in prepanng its financial statements are reasonable and
prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The financial statements are presented in Japanese Yen (“JPY™) and all values are rounded to the
nearest ¥ en, except where otherwise indicated

The appended financial statements of the Master Fund forms an integral part of the Fund's financial
statements.

22  IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFE.57)

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previcus year, except for the
followng amendments to the IFRSs effective as of 1 Apnl 2019:

International Fimancial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“TFRIC™) - Int 23 Uhcerfaindy over
Income Tax Treatmernts

The interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty
that affects the application of Intemational Accounfing Standards (“TAS™) 12 Income Taxes. The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it speaifically
inchude requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses the following:

10
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

22 IMPACT OF NEW AND EEVISED INTEENATIONAL FINANCIAL RFEPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFR.S") (continued)

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“TFRIC™) - Int 23 Uncertaingy over
Income Tax Traatments (contmned)

= whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately

= the assumpthons an enfity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities

*  how an entity determines taxable profits (tax losses), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and tax rates

= how an enfity considers changes in facts and circumstances

The mterpretation is to be applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application as an
adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application, without the restatement of
comparative mformation. The interpretation has had no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Fund.

23 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Fund has not early adopted any of the new and revised international IFE.Ss that have been issued
but are not yet effective for the accounting year ended 31 March 2020 in these financial statements.
Among the new and revised IFRSs, the following is expected to be relevant to the Fund's financial
statements upon effectivity:

Amendments to TAS | and IAS 8 Definition of Matgrial

The amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 were 1ssued in Jammary 2019 to align the definition of "matenal”
across the standards and to clanfy certain aspects of the definition. The new definition states that
information 15 matenal if cmitting, misstating or obscunng 1t could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments clanfy that mateniality will depend on the nature or
magmiude of nformation, or both. The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2020 and are not expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Fund upon adoption.

11
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Assessment as investment entity

Entities that meet the definition of an nvestment entity within IFES 10 are required to measure their
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss rather than consclidate them. The criteria which define
an Investment entity are, as follows.

{a) An entity that obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpese of providing those
nvestors with investment services

by An entity that commits to 1ts investors that its business purpose 1s to invest funds solely for
retuns from capital appreciation, investment income or both

{c) An entity that measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its
investments on a fair value basis

As detailed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the investment objective of the Fund and the Master
Fund is to preserve capital and to maximise capital gains, regardless of the direction of global stock
markets or interest rates, by identifying and acquiring indervalued equities and derivative instruments
of selected Japanese companies in order to effect hedged positions and will identify such other
mvestments as may otherwise mean the objectives of the Fund can be attained.

Substantially all investments are reported at fair value in the Fund's investors report, audited financial
statements and internal reperts. The Fund does not intend to hold the investments mdefinitely.

Based on the above, the Fund and the Master Fund mest the definition of an investment entity. These
conclusions will be reassessed on an annual basis.

Eevenue recognition
Revenue is recogmsed when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Fund and the
revenue can be relizbly measured. on the followmng bases:

(&) mnferest income for all financial instruments not at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the principal cutstanding and the
effective interest rate applicable; and

by dividend meome for all financial mstnuments at fair value through profit or loss 1s recognised,

gross of withholding taxes, when the shareholders' night to receive the payments has been
established, which 15 taken as being the date on which equities are gquoted as ex-dividend.

12
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2020

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial mstrimments

{1} Classification
In accordance with IFES 9, the Fund classifies its financial assets and financial habihties at initial
recognition into the categones of financial assets and financial liabilities discussed below.

In applying that classification, a financial asset or financial liability is considered to be held for
trading 1f:

{a) It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near
term; or

{(b) Om mutial recosmition, it i3 of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are

ga‘fma.udfﬂr ich, there i3 evidence of a recent actual pattem of short-term

P
(c) Itmadmvahw{meptforadeﬁvativethatisaﬁmialglmcmhacturadesi ted
and effective hedging mstrument) i

Financial assets

The Fund classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured
at FVPL on the basis both:

{a) The Company’s business model for managing the financial assets
{(b) The contractual cash flow charactenistics of the financial assets

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

(a) Its contractual terms do not give nsetocasi ﬂsmspecaﬁed dates that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outs

(b) It 13 mot within a business mode]l whose objective is B]Ih.&l’ to collect contractual cash
flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell; or

{c) At initial recoguition, it is imevocably designated as measured at fair value throngh profit or
loss when domng so elimnates or sigmficantly reduces a measurement or recogmition
mconsis that would otherwise anse from measunng assets or hiabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases.

The Fund inclodes in this category investment in Master Fund.

13
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial mstroments (continued)
(i) Classificafion (contimed)

Financial assets (confimed)

Financial asseis measured at amortised cost

A debt instrument 15 measured at amortised cost if it 15 held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets m order to collect contractnal cash flows and its contractual
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and mterest
on the principal amount outstanding. The Fund includes m this category short-term non-financmg
receivables including cash and cash equivalents and other receivables.

Financial hallifies

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

A financial liability 15 measured at fair value through profit or loss if 1t meets the defimition of
held for trading.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Thas cate inclhudes all financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value through

E;nﬁt orloss. The Fund includes in this category amounts relating to redemption payable, accrued
iabilities and other payables.

()} Recogmition
The lgundremgn.isesa financial asset or a financial liability when it becomes a party to the
contractnal provisions of the instrument Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace (regular way trades) are recogmised on the trade date that the Fund conmmits to
purchase or sell the asset.

iz} Initial measurement
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial
position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments are recognised directly in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets and financial liabilities (other than those classified as at fair value through profit
or loss) are measured initially at their fair vahoe phus any directly atimbutable incremental costs

of acquisition o1 issne.

14
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial mstroments (continued)

{iv) Subsequent measurement
After mitial measurement, the Fund measures financal mstruments which are classified as at
FVPL, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial mstruments are
recognised m profit or loss as they anse. Interest eamed on these instruments are recorded
separately in inferest income.

Debt mstruments, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for impaimment. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the debt nstruments are derecogmised or impaired,
as well as through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method Gains and losses are recognised m profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.

The effective mmterest method is a method of caleulating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
a financial liability and of allocating and recognising the interest mcome or nterest expense m
profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carying amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of
the financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Fund estimates cash flows
considening all contractual terms of the financial instruments, but does not consider expected
credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract
that are an integral part of the effactive interest rate, transaction costs and all other premimms or
discounts.

v} Derecogmition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecogmised where the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired or the Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without matenal delay to a third party under
a pass-through arrangement and either: (a) the Fund has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset; or (b) the Fund has neither transferred nor retaimed substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Fund has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset (or has entered into
a pass-through arangement), and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transfemred control of the asset, the asset is recogmised to the extent
of the Fund® continuing imvolvement in the asset. In that case, the Fund also recognises an
associated hability. The transferred asset and the associated hiability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Fund have retained. The Fund derecognises a financial
liabality when the obligation under the habality 1z discharged, cancelled or expired.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash at bank, time deposits with an criginal maturity of three

months or less, and short term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and subject to an insigmficant risk of changes in value.

Cash on hand and at bank which are denommated m JPY are carnied at cost. Cash denominated m
other currencies are translated into JPY at the applicable rates of exchange at the statement of financial
position date.

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank.

Amounts due from/to Master Fund

Amounts doe from/to Master Fund include redemption/subscription proceeds payable to/receivable
from the Master Fund for units redeemed/subscribed but not yet setfled at the date of the financial
statements.

Subscription/redemption receivable/payable
Subscription‘redemption  receivable/payable includes ameunts recervable/payable for capital
transactions that have not seftled at the date of the financial statements.

Umitholders' capital
A puttable financial mstroment 15 classified as an equity instrument if it has all of the followmg
features:

+ It entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Fund's net assets m the event of the Fund's
ligmidation.

* The instrument iz in the class of instruments that is subordinate fo all other classes of
mstruments.

+ All fimancial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of
mstruments have identical features.

+  The instrument does not include any contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial
asset other than the holder’s rights to a pro rata share of the Fund's net assets.

*  The total expected cash flows atiributable to the instrument over the life of the nstrument are
based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change
in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the portfolio over the life of
the instrument.

In addition to the instrument having all the above features, the Fund must have no other financial
mstrument or contract that has:

+  Total cash flows based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets
of the change in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Fund, and

*  The effect of substantially restricting or fixing the residual returm to the puttable mstroment
holders.

The Fund's redeemable units meet the defimtion of puttable mstruments classified as equity
mstruments mmder the revised IAS 33
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Eelated parties
A party is considered to be related to the Fund if:

{g) the party s a person or a close member of that person's family and that persemn,

(i)  has control or joint contrel over the Fund;
() has significant influence over the Fund; or
(i) 1is a member of the key management personnel of the Fund or of a parent of the Fund;

or
{b) the party 15 an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Fund are members of the same trust;

(il) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other enfity);

(i) the entity and the Fund are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one enfity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of third
en

) th:litzyuﬁl}r is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of emplovees of either the Fund
or an entity related to the Fund;

(vi) the entity is contrelled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

{vil) a person identified in {a)(1) has sigmficant influence over the entity or 15 a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the enfity); and

(vii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management

services to the Fund or to the parent of the Fumd.

Determination of fair value
The Fund measures its investments at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value 13 the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date

The fair value measurement is based on the 1on that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liabality takes place either in the principal et for the asset or lability or, in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. principal or the most
advantagecus market must be accessible to the Fund

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or ability, assunung that market participants act in their economic
best interest.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Determination of fair value {(continued)

The fair value for financial instruments traded i active markets at the reporting date is based on their
quoted price or binding dealer price quotations (last trade prices). Secunties defined in these accounts
as 'listed' are traded in an active market. Where the Fund has financial assets and finanecial hiabilities
with offsefting positions in market risks or counterparty credit misk, it has elected to use the
measurement exception provided in IFES 13 to measure the fair value of its net nsk exposure by
applymg last trade price to the net open position as appropriate.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value 13 measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categeorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
15 significant to the fair value measnrement as a whole:

+ Levell — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

* Level2 —Valuation techmiques for which the lowest level input that 1s sipmificant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly ohservable

# Level3 — Valuation techmiques for which the lewest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recumng basis, the Fund
determines whether transfers have cccurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing the
categonisation (based on the lowest level input that 15 significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the beginning of each reporting period.

Functional and presentation cumency

The functional currency reflects the cumrency in which the Fund primarily generates and expends cash
from 1ts activities. Transactions in foreign currencies other than the fimetional cumrency are recorded
at the rates ruling at the date of transaction.

The functional currency and presentation currency of the Fund are both in Japanese Yen ("JFY") and
all values are rounded to the nearest Yen, except where otherwise indicated

Foreign cumency transactions

These financial statements are presented in Japanese Yen ("JPY ™), which is the Fund's functional and
presentation currency. Foreign cumency transactions are imitially recorded using the functional
currency rates raling at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and habilities denommated m
foreign currencies are retranslated at the fimetional currency rates of exchange mling at the end of
reporting date. All exchanpe differences are taken to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are franslated using the exchange rates as the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
1tems measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated nsing the exchange rates at the date
when the fair valne was determined

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, all assets and Liabilities of the Fund are dencminated n the functional

Curmrency.

18

96/215



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Met gan or loss on finaneial assets at fair value thron fit or loss

Wet gains or losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are changes in the fair value
of financial assets held for trading or designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss and exclude interest and dividend income and expenses.

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial mstruments for the period
and from reversal of the prier period’s unrealised gains and losses for financial mstruments which
were realised in the reporting period. Realised gains and losses on disposals of financial instruments
classified as at fair valoe through profit or loss are caleculated using weighted average method. They
represent the difference between an instrument’s initial camrying ameunt and disposal amount, or cash
payments or receipts made on demvative contracts (excloding payments or receipts on collateral
margm accounts for such instruments).

Income tax

The Fund 1= exempt from all forms of taxation in the Cayman Islands, inchiding income, capital gains
and withholding taxes. However, in some junsdictions, investment income and capital gains are
subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the income.

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTION

The preparation of financial statements m conformity with IFES requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the finameial statements and
accompanymmg notes. Management believes that the estimates utilised in preparing its financial
statements are reasonable and prodent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Fevisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected.

Geing concem

The Fund'’s management has made an assessment of the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern
and is satisfied that the Fund has the resources to continue i business for the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, management is not aware of any material imcertainties that may cast significant doubt
upon the Fund's ability to continue a3 a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to
be prepared on the going concem basis.

Far value of financial mstroments
When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a vanety of valuation
1 that mclude the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are taken from
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgements are reguired
m establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations of hquidity and model inputs such
as credit risk (both own and counterparty’s), correlation and volatility. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the reported fair valne of financial mstruments. The models are calibrated
regularly and tested for validity using prices from any observable cumrent market transactions in the
same instruments (without modification or repackaging) or based on any available observable market
data.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

i FEES

Investment management fee

The Manager 13 entitled to receive a fee, payable monthly in amears, calculated at an anmmal rate of
1.0% {may be increased up to a rate of 1.5% of the net asset value on giving three months notice to
umithelders) on the net asset value of the Fund at each month end The investment management fee
for the year ended 31 March 2020 was JEY268,835,663 (2019: JPY298,506,552). As at 31 March
2020, an mvestment management fee of JPY21,145,255 (2019: JPY22,943 461) was payable to the
Manager.

The WManager 15 not entitled to any investment management fee from the Master Fund.

Performance fee

The WManager 15 alzo entitled to receive an anmual performance fee at 20% of any increase in net asset
value per unit above an initial 3% increase in the highest net asset value per unit (after any performance
fee and any distribution) as at the last dealing day of any preceding financial year, payable anmally

In ATTEArs.
The Manager 15 not entitled to any performance fee from the Master Fund.

Trostee's fee and administration fee

The trustee, HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Linited, is entitled to receive a fixed fee of US$1,000 per month
for feeder fund administration seTvices, and certain transaction fees, as agreed with the Manager from
time to time.

The admimistration fee for the year ended 31 March 2020 was JFY1.304.315 (2019: JFY1,332,073).

As at 31 March 2020, an adnunistration fee of JPY 108,215 (2019: JFY110,743) was payable to the
Truostes.

. TAXATION

Under the cumrent laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no mcome, withholding, capital gains,
corporation, inheritance, or estate taxes of any description.

The Fund has received an undertaking from the Govemnment of the Cayman Islands i accordance
with section &1 of the Trust Law (2011 Revision) of Cayman Island that for a period of fifty years
from 30 March 1999 (date of estabhishment), no law which is hereafter enacted m the Cayman Islands
mposing any such taxes shall apply to the Fund.

The Fund 15 not sulject to any Japanese tax on income or capital gams. As a result, no tax lability has
been recorded in the financial statements.

20

98/215



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2020

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR. VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OF. LOSS

2020 2019
JPY JEY
Investment in the Master Fund 25264 348998 28,856,343 393
Met changes in fair value on financial assets through
profit or loss:
Realized 1,790,889,587 2,415,103,089
Unrealised (4.162,415,975)  (4,733,921,573)
Total gains (2.371,526,388)  (2,318,818.484)

The Fund mvested i the Master Fund directly and invested m listed equity securities through the
Master Fund.

8 FATR VAILUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Assets and liabihities for which fair valne 1 measured or disclosed i the financial statement are
categonized within the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
15 significant to the fair valne measnrement as a whole.

# Tevell Quoted (unadjusted)market prices m active markets for identical assets or habilities
Level2  Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
* Level3 WValuation techmgues for which the lowest level mnput that i1s sigmificant to the fair
value measurement 1z unobservable

Assessing the significance of a particular input requires judgement, considering factors specific to the
assets or liabilities.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
JPY IFY JPY IPY
2020
Investment m the Master Fund - 25264348 008 - 25264348 992
2019

Investment m the haster Fund - 28856343393 - 28856343393
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2020

9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank of JEY 474 202 (2019: JFY439, 332) was placed at the Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking

Corporation Limited ("HSBC"), an affiliate of the Trustee, as at end of reporting date. The entire
amount was placed in a non-interest bearing account.

10. NUMBEE. OF REDEEMABLE UNITS IN ISSUE

2020 2019

Units Units
Balance at begmning of the year 146,667 140 477
Issuances 13,450 -
Redemptions (18.451) (2.810)
Balance at end of the year 141,675 146,667

The redeemable units are offered on each dealing day, i.e. the last business day of each calendar month.

11 MNET ASSET VALUE PEE. REDEEMABLE UNIT

The calculation of the net asset value per redeemable unit is based on the net assets as at 31 March
2020 of JPY25.262,007 918 (2019: TPY 28 854,111,359 and 141,675 (2019: 146.667) redeemable
umits in issue as at that date.

12. CAPITAL
The Fund's net assets are represented by cutstanding units in the Fund in issue.

The investment objectives of the Fund are to preserve capital and to maximise capital gains, regardless
of the direction of the global stock markets or interest rates. The Fund aims to achieve this objective
by operating as a feeder fund that invests all of its assets mto TE1 J Limited, an exempted company
I ted in the Cayman Islands on 12 Jammary 2001 and a regulated mminal fund under section
4(3) of the Mutual Funds Law (2020 Revision) of Cayman Islands. The Master Fund has the same
aim a5 the Fund and it achieves the objectives by identifying and acquiring undervalued equities and
denvative mstruments of selected Japanese compamies in order to effect hedged positions. Such
objectives can also be achieved by identifymg and acquiring equity warrants, interests in other equity
funds, convertible bonds, and may establish uncovered long or short positions, as mvestment rather
than as part of hedged positions.

The Fund strives to imvest the subseription money of units in imvestments that meet the Fund's
mvestment objective while maintaining sufficient hquidity to meet the unitholder's redemption request.
The Fund may dispose of its financial assets, when necessary, to meet liquidity needs.

The Fund does not have any externally miposed capital requirement.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2020

12.

13.

14.

CAPITAL (continued)
The rights attaching to the umits are as follows:

Units may be redeemed on each dealing day, i.e., the last business day of each calendar month or such
other day or days as the Manager with the approval of the Trustee may from time to time prescribe.
Fedemption price is determined by rounding down to the nearest Japanese Yen of net asset value per
umit. The unitholder mmst request such a redemption by no later than the dealing deadline, 1.e. at least
10 busmness days prior to the last business day of each calendar month or the Manager may in its
discretion extend the period required for notice.

Unitholders have the right to receive notice of, attend or vote at any general meeting of the Fund. The
umithelders are entitled to receive all dividends declared and paid by the Fund Upon winding up, the
umithelders are entitled to a retun of net assets of the Fund as of the date.

As at 31 March 2020, no subscription proceeds (2019: Nil) was receivable from investors and
redemption payments of JFY1.301,648 400 (2019: Nil) was payable to investors. Units are 1ssued and
redeemed in accordance with the Trust Deed.

2020 2019
JPY JPY

Subscription receivable, beginning of the year - -
Subscriptions during the year 2.400,000,000 -

Subszcription receivable, end of the year

Proceeds from issuance of redeemable units 2.400.000,000 -
Fedemption payable, beginning of the year - 1,717 304 6435
Fedemption during the year 3,344,023 302 586,224 614
Redemption payable, end of the year (1,301,648 4000 -
Payment for redemption of redeemable units 2042374 902 2303520259
DISTRIBUTION

No distnbution was paid and payable during the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

BELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Manager is entitled to recerve investment management fee and performance fee from the Fund,
with details disclosed in Note 3.

The Fund redeemed shares amounting to JPY1 323,146 272 durning the year which remain due from
TK1 J Limited as at 31 March 2020 (2019: JFY23,452.632).
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

15. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS

Rizks ansing from holding financial instruments are inherent in the Fund's activities, and are managed
through a process of ongoing measurement and monitoring. The Fund 15 exposed to credit msk,
hiquidity risk and market risk.

Fimancial instruments of the Fund comprise mvestments in financial assets at fair valoe through profit
of loss for the purpose of generating a retum on the mvestment made by unitholders, ameounts due
from TE1 J Linnited redemption payable, accounts payable and accred liabilities and cash and cash
equivalents.

The Manager is responsible for identifying and controlling the risks that arise from these financial

mstruments.

The risks are measured using a method that reflects the expected impact on the results and net assets
attributable to umitholders of the Fund from reascmably possible changes in the relevant risk variables
such as change in global market environment, mterest rate and currency fluctuations, eredit ratings of
the Fund's constients and liqudity risk and price risk of the mvesting equity securities. Information
about these risk exposures at the reporting date, measured on this basis, is disclosed below.
Information about the total fair valne of financial instroments exposed to risk, as well as its compliance
with established investment mandate, which are presentad by the Investment and Bomowing
Restrictions listed i Explanatory Memorandum, 15 also monitored by the Manager. These mandate
limits reflect the imwestment srategy and market environment of the Fund, as well as the level of risk
that the Fund is willing to accept, with additional emphasis on selected industries.

Concentration of nisk arises when a number of financial instruments or contracts are entered into with
the same counterparty, or a number of counterparties engaging m similar business activities, or
conducting activities in the same geographic region, or share similar economic features that would
cause their abilities to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes to economic
or political conditions.

This information i3 prepared and reported to relevant parties on a monthly basis as deemed appropriate,
mcluding the Manager and Investment Advisor.

The sensitivity analysis presented below i1s based on management's best estimate of the sensifivity to
a reasonably possible change. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the sensitivity
analysis and the differences could be material.

(a) Market Risk

Market risk 15 the risk that the valoe of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices whether those changes are cansed by factors specific to the mdividual assets or
factors affecting all assets in the market such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity
prices. Market risk 15 managed and monitored uvsing sensitivity analysis in equity price of the
imvestment in Master Fund, and minimised through ensuring that all investment activities are
undertaken in accordance with established mandate limits and investment strategies.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

14. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (continued)

(a) Market Risk (continued)
(1) Interest rate nsk

Imterest rate misk is the nisk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in market interest rates.

As at the end of reporting date, the Fund's exposure to interest rate risk 1= considerad to be
minimal as all of the Fund’s assets are comprised by mvestment in the Master Fund and
amounts due from the Master Fund and cash balance was placed in a non-interest bearing
account at the bank.

(i) Cumrency nsk
Currency risk is the nisk that the value of financial assets or liabilities will flnctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund's exposure to currency risk is minimal as the

Fund's cash and bank balances and investments which are denomimnated in currencies other
than Japanese Yen are inimaterial.

(i) Egquity price nisk
Equty price risk is the nsk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes m
market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual stock
of factors affecting all instruments in the market Equity price nisk exposure anses from the
Fund's investment.
Equity price risk is managed by the Manager by constructing a diversified portfolio of
imstruments operated by Master Fund The followimng table details the breakdown of the

mvestment asset held by the Fund:
2020 2019

% of net asset %o of net asset

Financial assets at fair value throngh profit or loss
Investment in Master Fund 100.01 100.01
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

14. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (contmmed)
(a) Market Rizk (contmued)
(i) Equuty price nsk (continued)
The Manager's best estimate of the effect on the net assets for a year due to a reasonably
possible change in Nikkei 225 Index, with all other variable held constant, is indicated
the table below. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the sensitivity analysis

below and the different could be material. An equivalent increase or decrease in Nikkei 225
Index shown below would have resulted in an equivalent impact.

Changes m Nikkei 225 Changes m NAV

Index
From 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 -10.79% -0.36%
From 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 -1.16% -B30%

Concentration of market risk exposure

Asg of 31 March 2020 and 2019, all of equity secumities of the Master Fund are hsted m
Japan. The concentration of market risk by geographical location iz managed by the
diversification of investment in vanous industry sectors. An industry sector analysis of the
Master Fund's financial assets and liabilities is disclosed in the Master Fund's notes to
financial statements.

The Fund continuously monitors the credit standing of its counterparties and does not expect
any material losses as a result of this concentration.

(b) Liquidity Risk

Liguidity nisk 15 the nsk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in raismg funds to meet
commitments associated with financial liabilittes. Ligmdity risk may result from an mability to
settle a financial Liability quickly at an amount close to its fair value.

The Fund's exposure to hquidity risk 15 relatively low, as umitholders are allowed to redesm
mvestment i Master Fund on a monthly basis. Further, to prevent the short-term liquidity problem
which may be caused by huge redemptions in a single dealing day to the Fund, the Manager is
entitled at 1ts discretion to limit the aggregate of the mumber of umts redeemed to 10% of the total
number of units in izsue. The Manager may also suspend the nght of wmthelders to require
redemption of their units and/or may delay the payment of the redemption price during any period
when the determination of the net asset value of the Fund is suspended.

In addition, the Fund maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet normal operating
Tequirements.

Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

Financial liabilities of the Fund comprise accounts payable and accrued hiabilities, and redemption
payable. These financial liabilities have ne contractual maturity but are typically settled within 30
days.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

14. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (continued)
() Credit Risk

Credit risk relates to the extent to which the Fund could be impacted by failures by counterparties
to discharge their obligations or commitment they have entered into with the Fund. It could reduce
the amount of future cash flows from financial assets on hand as at the end of reporting date.

The carrying amount of financial assets best represents the maximum credit nsk exposure at the
end of reporting date. This relates also to financial assets camed at amortised cost, as they have a
short-term to maturity. This does not represent the maximum risk exposure that could anse in the
future as a result of changes in wvalues, but represents the cumrent maximmm exposure at the
reporting date.

As of the end of reporting date, the Fund's financial assets exposed to credit risk amounted to
JPY26,587.969, 562 (2019: JPY28 880,255357), which represented the camying amount of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, amomnts due from TE1 J Limdted and cash and
cash equivalents as presented in the statement of financial position.

The Fund holds no collateral as security or any other credit enhancements (2019: Nil). There are
no financial assets that are past due or impaired, or would otherwise be past due or impaired except
for the terms having been renegotiated (2019: Nil).

Concentration of credit risk exposure

Cash held by the Fund is held by HSBC located in Hong Kong. Bankmuptcy or msclvency by
HSBC may canse the Fund's nghts with respect to the cash held by HSBC to be delayed or limited.
The Fund monitors its sk by monitoring the credit quality and finaneial positions of HSBC. If
the credit quality or the financial position of HSBC deteniorates significantly, the Manager will
move the cash holdings to another bank as scon as practical The related credit ratings from
Standard & Poor’s ("S&P") for HSBC 1z "AA-" (2019: A).

Financial asseis subjsct fo IFRS 9's impaivment requirements

The Fund’s financial assets subject to the ECL model within TFRS 9 are, amounts due from TE1
JLimited and cash and cash equivalents. At 31 December 2019, the total amount of these financial
assets 15 JPY1,323,620,564 (2019: JPY23.911.964), on which no loss allowance had been
provided. No assets are considered impaired and no amounts have been written off durmg the year.

Financial assefs not subject to IFRS 95 impairment requirements

The Fund is exposed to credit risk on investment in Master Fund. They are not subject to IFRS
0°s Impaimment requirements as they are measured at fair valne through profit or loss. The carrying
value of these assets, under IFRS 9 represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit nisk on
financial instruments not subject to the IFES 9 mmpaimment requirements on the respective
reporting dates. Hence, no separate maxmmm exposure to credit sk disclosure is provided for
these instruments.

27

105/215



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2020

15. EVENTS AFTER THE REPOR.TING DATE
Subsequent to the reporting date and up to the date of the financial statements, 6,400 redeemable

participating shares were redeemed for total redemption payments of JPY1,142,323 200. There were
no other material events to be disclosed after the reporting date.

16. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The finanecial statements were approved and authorsed for 1ssue by the Manager and Trustee on
10 July 2020.
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Independent Auditors™ Report

The Board of Directors
TE1 I Limited

(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have aupdited the financial statements of TK1 J Limited (the “Fund™) which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive ncome, statement of changes in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable

participating shares and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the finaneial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In cur opinicn the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Fund as at 31 March 2020 and its financial performance and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Aunditing (ISAs). Ouwr
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors ' responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statemenis section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in
accordance with the International Ethies Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Proféessional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled owr other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for cur opinion
Other Information

Other information consists of the management and administration listing and the vnandited
investment portfolio. Management 1s responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon

B mamntar frn of Erai & Veung Clobsl Limiesd
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, cur responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 1z matenially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fravd or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.
Anditors® Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept hiability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an anditors” report
that includes our opindon. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate they could reascnably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

& rramber Arn of Ermat & 'Voung Clobsl Limi bsd
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the andit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain andit evidence that 15 sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from firaud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as frand may involve collusion, forgery, intentional cmissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the auwdit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s intemal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concemn basis of
accounting and. based on the andit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify ow opinion Cur conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However,
future events or conditions may canse the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant andit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our andit.
MfMIﬁ

10 July 2020
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TK1J LIMITED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 March 2020

Motes 2020 2019
IPY JFY
ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7,8 27.975,005,033 28,885,344,384
Dividends receivable 279,948,471 203,164,320
Margin deposits 10 4 3,652,353,243
Cash and cash equivalents 11 1,311,811,793 25,230,280
TOTAL ASSETS 20 566,765,301 12,766,092,227
SHAREHOLDER™S EQUITY
Share capital 12 10,000 10,000
LIABILITIES (EXCLUDING MET ASSETS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF
REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES)
Financial habilities at fair value through profit or loss 7.8 - 3,826,857,998
Amounts due to a prime broker 9 2,942 474 520 24,308,102
Dividends payable on financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 29,736,000 28,084,000
Redemptions payable 16 1,323,146,272 23,452,632
Other payable and accruals 5 T.049.511 T.036,102
TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,302,406,303 3,909,738,834
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS
OF REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES 13 25,264,348,998  28,856,343,393
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY 20.566,765,301 32,766,092,227
MUMBER OF REDEEMABLE
PARTICIPATING SHARES IM ISSUE (units) 13 126,174 132,884
MET ASSET VALUE PER. REDEEMARBLE
PARTICIPATING SHARE (JPY) 13 200,234 217,154
Director 4

The dce
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TE1 J LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FROFIT OR LOS5 AND OTHER. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 March 2020
Notes 2020 2019
JFY JBY
INCOME
Dividend income 657,183,100 612,372 828
Sundry income 46 33,002
657,183,146 612,407,920
EXPENSES
Admmistration fee 5 36,895,657 40,219,267
Andit fee 3427739 3,582 847
Dividends on finanecial lisbilities at fair value
through profit or loss 61,619,400 62,061,000
Interest expense 3,764 864 4143 590
Legal and professional fees 806,635 5,335
Stock bormowing fees 34,556,716 18,087,931
Transaction fee expense 11,453,263 4,531,238
Withholding taxes on dividend income 100,647,592 93,784,899
Other operating expenses 1413 087 2217 960
254674955 228 634 067
FROFIT BEFORE INVESTMENT AND
EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES 402,508,191 383,773,833
INVESTMENT AND EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES
Net change in unrealised losses on financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 7 (4,695,161,341)  (3,899,512.472)
MNet realised gains on financial assets and liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss 7 1,921,036,540 1,197,168 720
Net exchange differences 0222 ( 248.585)

(2,774,034,579) (2,702,592 .337)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR. THE YEAR (2371526 388) (2318818 434)

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these financial statements.
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TE1 J LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES

Year ended 31 March 2020

Notes IFY
Balance at 31 March 2018 32,477,909,968
Redemption of redeemable participating shares 13 { 1302,748.001)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive income for the year ( 2318818 484)
Balance at 31 March 2019 28,836,343,393
Issue of redeemable participating shares 13 2.400,359,760
Redemption of redeemable participating shares 13 ( 3.620.827.767)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive income for the year ( 2371.326,388)
Balance at 31 March 2020 23,264,348 998

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these financial statements.
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TE1 J LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 March 2020
Note 2020 2019
JBY JPY
CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year and total comprehensive
meome for the year ( 2371526 388) 2,318,818 484)
Adjustments for:
Dividend income, net of withholding taxes 556,535,508) 518,587 929)
Dividends on financial lisbilities at fair value
throngh profit or loss 61,619,400 62,061,000
( 2,866,442 496) 2,775,345 413)
Purchases of financial assets and settlement of financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (11,145,570,178) 4,862,727.966)
Proceeds from financial liabilities and sale of financial
azzets at fair value through profit or loss 5,454 926,730 1,728,065 646
et realised gains on financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss { 1,921,036,540) 1,197 168.720)
Net change in unrealised losses on financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4,605,161 341 3,800.512472
Decrease in margin deposits 3,652,353,230 3,667,166,233
Increase in amounts due to prime broker 2018 166,418 24.308,102
Increase/(decrease) in other payable and accruals 13,400 26,157)
Cash generated from operations TBTAT1923 2483 784 197
Dividends received 479 751,357 331,506,847
Dividends paid on securities sold not yet purchased 59,967 400) 61,594 5000
Net cash inflows from operating activities 1,207 355,880 2,933 696,544
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares 2.400,359.760 -
Eedemption of redeemable participating shares 2321,134127) 3,023,019.043)
Wet cash inflows/(outflows) from financing activities 70225633 3,023919.043)
NET INCREASE/({DECEREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,286 581,513 70,222 499)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 11 25230280 935452779
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 11 1,311,811.793 23,230,280
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank 11 1,311,811.793 23,230 280

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TE1l JLIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

1 THE FUND

TE1 J Lomited (the “Fund™) is a company mcorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 Jamary 2001
under the Compamies Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited hability and
registered under the Cayman Islands Mutual Fund Law. The Fund commenced operations on 23
January 2002. The Fund is managed by Tower Asset Management Limited (the “Manager™) and
Tower Investment Management Co. Limited acts as the mwvestment adwisor (the “Investment
Advizor”).

The Fund operates as a master fund to Tower K1 J-Fund, a unit trust established under the laws of the
Cayman Islands by a Trust Deed dated 30 March 1999 (as amended), for the purpose of holding the
assets of Tower K1 J-Fund. The Fund currently has only one investor, Tower K1 J-Fund (the “Feader
Fund"™).

The Fund’s investment objectives are to preserve capital and to maximise capital gams, regardless of
the direction of global stock markets or mterest rates. The Manager will seek to achieve the nvestment
objectives of the Fund principally by identifying and acquiring undervalued equities and denivative
mstruments of selected Japanese companies m order to effect hedged positions and will identify such
other mvestments as may otherwise mean the objectives of the Fund can be attained

The Manager will create leveraged and msk controlled hedged pesitions prineipally imwvelving
Japanese common stocks or related derivative instruments. When it believes such mvestments offer
opportunities consistent with the Fund's mwvestment objectives, the Manager may also identify and
acguire egquity securities, equity warrants, interests in other eguity funds. convertible bonds and other
denvative instroments, and may establish uncovered long or short positions, as mvestment rather than
as part of hedged positions.

The directors of the Fund anticipate that the Fund will continue for a penod up to twenty five years
depending on the performance of the Fund and may be reduced or extended at the Manager's
dizcretion in which case the Fund may contimue for a longer or shorter peniod or until as otherwise
provided in the Memorandum of Association. The Manager may also terminate the Fund when the net
asset valoe of the Fund falls belowr JEY 100,000 000.

HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited was appointed as the admimistrator (the “Administrater”) of the
Fund.

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
21 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFR.Ss issued by the International
Accounting Standard Beard (“TASB™) and interpretations issued by the Intemational Financial
Reporting Interpretation Committee of IASE.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets and
liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, that have been measured at fair value. The
preparation of the finamcial statements m conformuty with IFRS reqmires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanymg notes. Management believes that the estimates utilised in preparing its financial
statements are reasonable and prodent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

9
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TE1l JLIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
21 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (contimed)

The financial statements are presented m Japanese Yen (TPY™) and all valnes are rounded to the
nearest ¥ en, except where otherwise indicated.

22  IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRS™)
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, except for the
followng amendments to the IFRSs effective as of 1 Apnl 2019:

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“TFRICT) - Int 23 Uncertainfy over
Income Tax Traatments

The interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty
that affects the application of Intemational Accounting Standards (“TAS™) 12 Income Taxes. The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies cutside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically
meclude requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with imcertain tax treatments. The
mtapretahnn specifically addresses the following:
whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately
= the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities
= how an enfity determines taxable profits (tax losses), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and tax rates
+ how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances

The mterpretation 13 to be applied retrospectively with the cummlative effect of application as an
adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application, without the restatement of
comparative mformation. The interpretation has had no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Fund.

23 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Fund has not early adopted any of the new and revised IFR.Ss that have been 1ssned but are not
yet effective for the accounting year ended 31 March 2020 m these financial statements. Among the
new and revised IFES, the following is expected to be relevant to the Fund's financial statements upon
effectivity:

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments to [AS 1 and IAS 8 were issued in Jamoary 2019 to align the definition of "material”
across the standards and to clanfy certain aspects of the defimfion The new definition states that
information 15 matenial if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments clanfy that materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information, or both. The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on
of after 1 January 2020 and are not expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Fund upon adoption.

10
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TE1l JLIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2020

23

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Amendments to TAS 1 and TAS 8 Definition of Material {contimued)

The amendments to the definition of matenal is not expected to have a significant mpact on the Fund s
financial statements. There are no other standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards
that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a significant impact on the Fund.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Bevenue recognition
Fevenue iz recognised when it iz probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Fund and when
the revemme can be reliably measured, on the following bases:

(a) interest mcome for all financial nstruments not at far value through profit or loss is recognised
on a time proportion kasis taking into account the principal outstanding and the effective interest
rate applicable; and

{b) dividend income for all financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised, gross
of withholding taxes, when the shareholders’ night to receive the payments has been estabhished,
which 1s taken as being the date on which equities are quoted as ex-dividend.

Financial mstruments

i) Classification
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Fund classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial
recognition into the categones of financial assets and financial liabalities discussed below.

In applying that classification, a financial asset or financial liability is considered to be held for
trading if:

(a) It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near
term; or

{t) On imitial recognition, 1t 1s part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are
managed together and for which, there 13 evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

(c} Itis a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated
and effective hedging mstrument)

Financial assefs
The Fund classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured
at FVPL on the basis both:

{a) The Fund’s business model for managing the financial assets
{(b) The contractual cash flow charactenistics of the financial assets

11
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TE1l JLIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Financial mstroments (continued)
(i) Classification (continued)

Financial assefs (contimmed)

Financial assefs measured at fair value through profit or loss

(2} Its comtractual terms do not give nse to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the primeipal amount cutstanding; or

(k) It is not held within a business model whose objective 15 either to collect contractual cash
flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell; or

(c) At initial recognition, it is irevocably designated as measured at fair value through profit or
loss when doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise anse from measurmg assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases.

The Fund inchides in this category:
+ Securities held for trading. This category includes equity securities which are acguired
principally for the purpose of generating profit from short term fluctuations m price.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A debt instrument i measured at amortised cost if it 15 held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect confractual cash flows and its contractual
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and mterest
on the principal amount cutstanding. The Fund inclades in this category short- te:rmmn—ﬁnmcmg
receivables including cash collateral posted on derivative comfracts, accrued income and other
receivables.

Financial habilifies

Financial liabilities measured at fair valus through prafit or loss

A finaneial hability 1z measured at fair value through profit or loss if it meets the definition of
held for trading.

The Fund includes in this category, equity securities sold short since they are classified as held
for trading. The Fund also meludes its redeemable shares in this category and the Fund’s
sccounting pelicy regarding the redeemable participating shares is described in redeemable
participating shares note.

Financial liabilifies measured at amortised cost

This category includes all financial habilities, other than those classified as at fair value through
profit or loss. The Fund includes in this category amounts relating to amounts due to prime broker,
dividends payable on financial lisbihities at fair value through profit or loss, redemption payable,
accrued labilities and other payables.

{11} Recogmition
The Fund recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or comvention in the
markefplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date that the Fund commmts to
purchase or sell the asset.
12
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TE1l JLIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Financial mstroments (continued)

(i) Initial measurement
Financial assets at far value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial
position at fair value. All transaction costs for such mstruments are recognised directly m the
statement of comprehensive ncome.

Financial assets and financial habilities (other than those classified as at fair value through profit
of loss) are measured initially at their far value plus any directly attributable incremental costs of
acguisition or issue.

{tv) Subsequent measurement
After mitial measurement, the Fund measures financial mstruments which are classified as at
FVPL, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are
recogmised m profit or loss as they arse. Interest eamed on these mstruments are recorded
separately in interest income.

Debt instruments, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interast method less amy allowance for mpaimment. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the debt instruments are derecognised or impaired,
as well as through the amortisation process.

Finaneial lisbilities, other than those classified as at fair vahue through profit or loss are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised i profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.

The effective mterest method 13 a method of ealeulating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
a financial hiability and of allocating and recognising the mterest income or interest expense in
profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross camrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of the
financial hiability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Fund estimates cash flows
considenng all contractual terms of the financial instruments, but does not consider expected
credit losses. The calenlation meludes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, tramsaction costs and all other premiums or
discounts.

{v) Derecognifion

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar
financial assets) 1s derecogmised where the nghts to recerve cash flows from the asset have expired
or the Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
pass-through amrangement and either: (a) the Fund has transferred substantially all the nisks and
rewards of the asset; or (b) the Fund has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the assat.

13
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TE1l JLIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Financial mstroments (continued)

{v} Derecogmifion (contimed)
When the Fund has transferred its nght to receive cash flows from an asset (or has entered mto a
pass-through arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent
of the Fund’ continnmg involvement in the asset In that case, the Fund also recogmises an
associated lability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Fund have retained. The Fund derecognizes a financial
hability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Determination of fair value
The Fund measures its investments at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the hiability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or iability or, m the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The prineipal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible to the Fund.

The fair valne of an asset or a hability 1s measured using the assumphions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liabality, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
mterest.

The fair value for financial mstruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their
quoted price or binding dealer price quotations (last trade prices). Secunties defined in these accounts
as 'listed’ are traded m an active market.

Where the Fund has financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting positions in market risks or
counterparty credit risk, it has elected to use the measurement exception provided n IFES 13 to
measure the fair value of its net nisk exposure by applying last trade price to the net open position as
appropriate.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categomised within the fair valne hierarchy, desenbed as follows, based on the lowest level mput that 13
sigmificant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

= Level 1 - Quoted (unadjnsted) market prices m active markets for identical assets or habilities

s  Level 2 — Valuation technigques for which the lowest level input that i3 significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or mdirectly observable

= Tewvel 3 — Valuation techmigues for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is uncbservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Fund
determines whether transfers have occumred between levels m the erarchy by re-assessing the
categonisation (based on the lowest level input that is sigmficant to the far value measurement as a
wheole) at the beginning of each reporting period.

14
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TE1l JLIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Fund holds only trade receivables with no financing component and which have matunities of less
than 12 months at amortised cost and, as such, has chosen to apply an approach similar to the
simiplified approach for ECL under IFRS 9 to all its trade receivables. Therefore, the Fund does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each

reporting date.

The Fund’ approach to ECLs reflects a probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The Fund uses
the provision matrix as a practical expedient to measurimg ECLs on trade receivables, based on days
past due for groupings of receivables with similar loss pattems. Feceivables are grouped based on
their nature. The provision matrix is based on historical observed loss rates over the expected life of
the receivables and 1s adjusted for forward-looking estimates.

The Fund assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets
classified as loans and receivables is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed
mmnpaired if, and only if there is an objective evidence of impamrment as a result of one or more events
that have occurred after the imitial recognition of the assets (an incurred 'loss event’) and that the loss
event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may inchide indications that the debtor,
or a group of debtors, 1s experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency i mterest
orf principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganisation
and, where observable data mdicate that there 15 a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows, such as changes in amears or economic conditions that comelate with defaults. If there 1=
objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss 13 measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the prmmlimhleofesﬁmatadﬁlrmecashﬂm
{excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted using the asset's
onginal effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset 1s reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial mstruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offeet and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a curently enforceable legal night to offset the recogmnised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability sinultaneously.
Functional and presentation cumency

The functional currency reflects the cumrency in which the Fund primarily generates and expends cash
from its activities. Transactions in foreign currencies other than the functional cumrency are recorded
at the rates ruling at the date of transaction.

The fiunctional currency and presentation currency of the Fund are both in Japanese Yen ("JPY™) and
all values are rounded to the nearest Yen, except where otherwise indicated.
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TE1l JLIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Foreign cumrency translation
Foreign cumrency transactions are imitially recorded using the functional currency rates ruling at the
date of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cwrencies are retranslated at the fimctional
currency rates of exchange mling at the end of reportimg penod. All differences are taken to the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

Foreign cumrency transaction gams and losses on financial mstruments classified as at far value
through profit or loss are mecluded in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as part of the Net change in unrealised gainfloss on financial assets and
hiabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. Exchange differences on other financial instroments are
mehided in profit or loss m the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive meome as Net
exchange differences’.

Met gam or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Met gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities at FVPL are changes in the fair value of finaneial
assets and liabilities held for trading or designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss and exclude interest and dividend income and expenses.

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial mstruments for the period
and from reversal of the prior period’s unrealised gains and losses for financial mstruments which
were realised in the reporting period. Realised gains and losses on disposals of financial istruments
classified as at fair valne through profit or loss are calenlated nsing weighted average method. They
represent the difference between an instrument’s initial carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash
payments or receipts made on demivative contracts (excloding payments or receipts on collateral
margin accounts for such mstnuments).

Dividend income and expense

Dividend meome 15 recognised when the Fund's night to receive the payment 15 established, which 1s
taken as being the date on which eqmties are quoted as ex-dividend. Dividend income 15 presented
gross of any non-recoverable withholding tax which 15 disclosed separately in the statement of
comprehensive income. Dividend expense relating to equity securities sold short is recognised when
the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is established.

Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recogmised in profit or loss for all mterest-bearing financial
mstruments using the effective mterest method
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2020

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand demand

deposits and short-term deposits in banks with original matunties of three months or less.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of cutstandmng bank overdrafts.

Amounts due from/to brokers

Amounts due to brokers are payables for securities purchased (in a regular way transaction) that have
been contracted for but not yet delivered on the reporting date and cash overdraft with brokers. Befer
to the accounting pelicy for 'Other finanecial habilities', for recognition and measurement.

Amounts due from brokers include margin accounts and receivables for securities sold (in a regular
way transaction) that have been contracted for but not yet delivered on the reporting date. Refer to
accounting policy for Loans and receivables’ for recognition and measurement.

Margin accounts represent cash deposits held with brokers as collateral agamst open firtures contracts.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Fund if:

{(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person's fanmly and that persomn,

(@)
(@)
(i)

has control or joint contrel over the Fund,;
has significant influence over the Fund; or
1z a member of the key management personnel of the Fund or of a parent of the Fund;

or
{b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions apphes:

®
()

(1)
(i)

)

(wi)
(vir)

the entity and the Fund are members of the same Fund;

cne entity 15 an associate or joint venture of the other entity (o1 of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Fund are joint ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity iz an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of

either the Fund or an enfity related to the Fund;

the entity 15 controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified m (a)(1) has significant mfluence over the entity or 15 a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(witl) the entity. or any member of a proup of which it 15 a part, provides personnel services

to the Fund.
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TE1l JLIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Income tax

The Fund 1s exempt from all forms of taxation mn the Cayman Islands, including income, capital gains
and withholding taxes. However, in some junsdictions, investment income and capital gains are
subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. The Fund presents the withholding
tax separately from the gross mvestment mcome in the statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive meome as "Withholdng tax'.

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTION

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFES requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanyimg notes. Management believes that the estimates utilised in preparing its financial
statements are reasonable and prodent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recogmised m the year in which the estimates are revised and m any future years affected.

Going concem

The Fund's management has made an assessment of the Fund's ability to continue as a going concemn
and 1z satisfied that the Fund has the rescurces to continne m busimess for the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, management iz not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
upon the Fund's ability to continue as a going concem. Therefore, the financial statements confinue to
be prepared on the going concern basis.

Fair value of financial mstruments

When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a vanety of valnation
techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The mputs to these models are taken from
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgements are regquired
in establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations of liqumidity and medel inputs such
as credit risk (both own and counterparty’s), comelation and volatihity. Changes m assumptions about
these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. The models are calibrated
regularly and tested for validity using prices from any observable cument market transactions in the
same mstruments (without modification or repackaging) or based on any available cbservable market
data.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

A FEES

Investment management fee and performance fee
Investment management fee and performance fee are paid at the feeder fund level.

Administration fee
The Administrator, HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited, is entitled to receive a fee, payable monthly in
arrears, caleulated at the following anmual rates based on the net asset value of the Fund as of each

dealing day.

First JFY'12 billion of the net asset value 0.150%
Next JPY18 billion of the net asset value 0.125%
Any amount by which the net asset value exceeds JPY 30 billion 0.100%

The fee payable to the Admimistrator is accrued and payable monthly in amears and subject to a
minimum monthly fee of US$2,000. In addition, the Administrator is entitled to receive a fixed fee of
US$5,000 per anmum for corporate secretarial services, and certain transaction fees, as agreed with
the Manager from time to tme.

The admimstration fee for the year ended 31 March 2020 was JFY36,895.657 (2019
JPY40,219,267).As at 31 March 2020, an admmstration fee of JPY3,168,380 (2019: JFY3,106,863)
was payable to the Administrator.

6. TAXATION

Under the cument laws of the Cayman Islands there are no meome, withholding, capital gains,
corporation, inhentance, or estate taxes of any description.

The Fund has received an undertaking from the Government of the Cayman Islands that for a period
of twenty years from 6 February 2001, no law which is hereafter enacted in the Cayman Islands
mposing any such taxes shall apply to the Fund.

The Fund 15 not subject to any Japanese tax on income or capital gains, but is subject to Japan
withholding tax on dividends paid by Japanese corporations. As a result, no tax hability has been
recorded in the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

1 FINANCIAT ASSETS/AIABILITIES AT FATR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR. LOSS

Financial azsets at fair value ofit or loss
2020 2019
JPY IPY
Listed equity securities 27.975,005,033 28,885,344 384

27975,003,033 28335344 384

Met changes in fair value on financial assets through profit or loss:

2020 2019
JPY JFY
Realised 1,994,943 079 876,961,092
Unrealised ( 5725713,0400 ( 3,000,540.402)
Total losses ( 3,730,769,961) ( 2222579310}
Financial hiabilities at fair value fit or loss
2020 2019
JPY JBY
Listed equity securities sold short - 3,826,857 998
Met changes in fair value on financial liabilities through prefit or loss:
2020 2019
JPY JFY
Realized { 73,906,539) 320,207,628
Unrealised 1,030,551,699 ( 799.972.070)
Total gains/{losses) 956,645,160 (  479,764.442)

A detailed portfolio listing is set out on pages 31 to 35.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss represent obligations of the Fund to purchase
the secunities in the market at prevailing prices to the extent that the Fund does not already have the
securities m possession. Accordingly, these transactions result in the nisk that the Fund’s satisfaction
of the obligation may exceed the amount recognised in the statement of financial position.
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TE1l JLIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

8 FATR VAILUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Assets and liabihities for which fair valne 1s measured or disclosed i the financial statement are
categeorized within the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
15 significant to the fair valne measnrement as a whole.

Level 1 Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 Valuation techmques for which the lowest level mnput that 1s sigmficant to the fair value
measurement 13 directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 WValuation techmiques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is uncbservable

Aszeszing the significance of a particular nput requires judgement, considering factors specific to the

assets or liabilities.

Fimancial assets at fair value ofit or loss

2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
JFY JPY JPY JBY

Listed equity securities  27,975,005,033 - - 27975005033

Total 27.975,005,033 - - 27975,005,033

2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
JFY JPY JFY JBY

Listed equuty secunties 28 883 344 384 - - 288285344384

Total 28.883,344,384 - - 288335344384

Financial hiabilities at fair value fit or loss

During the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no financial liabilities at fair value through profit

or loss.

2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
JFY JPY JFY JBY

Listed equity securities

sold short 3.826,857,008 - - 3,826,857,008
Total 3.826,857,008 - - 3,826,857,008

21

128/215



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TE1l JLIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

9 AMOUNTS DUE TO A PRIME BROKEER.

2020 2019

JPY PY

Cash overdraft with the brokers 2,012,442,012 :
Payables for securities purchased but not yet setfled 30,032,508 24,308,102

2042 474,520 24,308,102

10. MARGIN DEPOSITS

2020 2019

JPY IPY

Margin deposits 4 3,652,353.243

Margin deposits due from the prime broker represent cash held by Goldman Sachs International as
collateral agamst the Fund’s financial liabilities at fair valoe through profit or loss and amounts due
to prime broker, which 1s restricted as to use.

11 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2020 2019
JPY IPY
Cash at bank 1,311,811,793 25,230,280

Cash at bank 15 placed at the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC™), an
affiliate of the Admimstrator, as at the end of the reporting date. The amount 15 placed in a non-interest
bearing account.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

12. SHARE CAPITAL

2020 2019
JFY IFY
Anthorised:
100 management shares of JFY100 each 10,000 10,000
Izzued and fully paid:
100 management shares of JFY100 each 10,000 10,000

The Fund's authorised capital comprise of 100 units of management shares and 49,900,000 units of
redeemable participating shares. All Management shares are held by the Manager. The Fund's total
management shares are equal to 100 voting and nonredeemable shares at JPY100 per share
Management shares are 1ssued so as to prevent the Fund from dissolution in case all participating
shares have been redeemed.

13. FEDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARE

2020 2019
JPY IPY
Anthorised:
49,900,000 redeemable participating shares of JFY0.1 each 4,990,000 4,990,000
Izsued and fully paid:
126,174.000 (2019: 132.284.000)
redeemable participating shares of JEY(0.1 each 12,617 13222

The holders of redeemable participating shares camry all voting rights and are entifled to dividends m
respect of their redeemable participating shares. The redeemable participating shares also carry an
exclusive right to receive any surplus assets remaining after the retum of the nominal amount paid up
on the redeemable participating shares and the management shares.

The redeemable participating shares are offered on each dealing day, L.e. the last business day of each
calendar month. The holders of redeemable participating shares may redeem the redeemable
participating shares on any dealing day by no later than the dealing deadline, i.e. no later than nine
busmess day prior to the last business day of each calendar month.

The Fund strives to invest the subscriptions of redeemable participating shares in mvestments that
meet the Fund’s investment objectives while mamtaimmg sufficient liquidity to meet shareholder’s
redemptions request. The Fund may dispose equity securities and other financial assets, when
necessary, to meet hqmdity needs. The Fund does not have any externally imposed capital requirement.

23

130/215



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TE1l JLIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

13. BREDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARE (contmued)

The following summanses the movement in redeemable participating shares during the year ended:

2020 2019

Units Units
At beginning of year 132,884 138,633
Subszcribed during the year 11,160 -
Fedeemed during the year (178700 { 5.749)
At end of year 126,174 132,884

The calculation of the net asset value per redeemable participating share is based on the net assets
attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares as at 31 March 2020 of JPY23,264.348 998
(2019: JPY28,856,343,393) and 126,174 redeemable participating shares (2019: 132,884 shares) m
1ssue as at that date.

14. DISTRIBUTION

Mo distnbution was paid or payable during the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

15. ASSETS UNDER. FLEDGE

The Fund pledged certain assets to Goldman Sachs Intemational as collateral for financing lines and
short seling facilities. The value of collateral pledged with Goldman Sachs International as at
31 March 2020 was JFY25,740,183 887 (2019: JFY 10,473,997, 852), representing financial assets at
FVPL and cash held by the prime broker.

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Fund is managed by the Manager. Details of the fees to which the Manager are entitled from the
Fund are provided in Note 5. All such fransactions were enterad into i the ordinary course of business
and on normal commercial terms. As at 31 March 2020, the Manager held all the 100 (2019: 100)

management shares.

Tower K1 J-Fund redeemed shares amounting to JEY1,323.146.272 dunng the year which remain
payable as at 31 March 2020 (2019: JFY23.452.632).
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31 March 2020

17. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS

Risks ansing from holding financial instruments are inherent in the Fund’s activities and are managed
through a process of cngoing measurement and monitermg. The Fund is exposed to credit risk,
hquidity nsk and market risk.

Fmancial mstruments of the Fund comprise investments in financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss for the purpose of generating a return on the investment made by shareholders,
amounts due to prime broker, dividends receivable and payable, redemption payable, margin deposits
and cash and cash equivalent.

The Manager is responsible for identifying and controlling the risks that anse from these financial

mstruments.

The risks are measured using a method that reflects the expected impact on the results and net assets
attnbutable to holders of redeemable participating shares of the Fund from reasomably possible
changes m the relevant risk vanables such as change in global market environment, inferest rate and
currency fluctuations, credit ratings of the Fund’s constituents and liquidity risk and price nisk of the
mvesting equity securities.

Information about these risk exposures at the reporting date, measured on this basis, is disclosed below.
Information about the total fair valoe of financial instroments exposed to risk, as well as its compliance
with established investment mandate, which are presented by the Investment and Bomowing
Restrictions listed i Explanatory Memorandum, 15 also monitored by the Manager. These mandate
limits reflect the investment strategy and market environment of the Fund, as well as the level of nisk
that the Fund is willing to accept, with additional emphasis on selected industries.

Concentration of nisk arises when a number of finaneial instruments or contracts are entered into with
the same counterparty, or a munber of counterparties engaging m similar business activities, or
conducting activities in the same geographic region, or share similar economic features that would
cause their abilities to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes to economie
or political conditions.

This mformation is prepared and reported to relevant parties on a monthly basis as deemed appropriate,
meluding the Manager and Investment Advisor.

(a)  Market Risk

Market nsk 13 the nisk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial mstruments will
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices whether those changes are caused by factors
specific to the individual assets or factors affecting all assets in the market such as mterest
rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. Market nisk is managed and monitored nsmg
sensitivity analysis in equity price, and minimised through ensunng that all mvestment
activities are undertaken in accordance with established mandate limits and mvestment
strategies.
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31 March 2020

17. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (contmmued)

{a) Market Risk (contimaed)
) Interest rate risk

Interest rate msk is the msk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial
instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

Ag at the end of the reporting date, the Fund's exposure to imferest rate nsk is
considered to be minimal as most of the Fund’s assets consist of equity securities and
non-mterest bearing assets such as dividends recervable, margin deposits and cash
balance placed at the bank.

(1) Currency nisk
Currency nisk is the nisk that the value of financial assets or habilities will fluctnate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund’s exposure to cumrency nisk is

minimal as the Fund’'s financial assets and liabilities, which are denomunated m
currencies other than Japanese Yen, are immaterial.

(i)  Equity price risk
Erquity price risk is the risk that the far value of equities decreases as a result of
changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the

individual stock or factors affecting all instruments in the market. Equity price risk
exposure anses from the Fund's mvestments.

Equity price nisk is managed by the Manager by constructing a diversified portfolio
of mstruments. The following table details the breakdewn of the investment assets
and habilities held by the Fund as at the end of the reporting date:

2020 2019
% of net assets %o of met assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Equity mvestment - histed securities 110.73 100.10

Financial liahilities at fair value
throngh profit or loss
Equity mvestment - listed securities
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

17. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBIECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (contmued)
{a) Market Rizk {contimaed)

The Manager's best estimate of the effect on the net assets for a year due to a
reasonably possible change in Nikke: 225 Index, with all other variable held constant
is indicated in the table below. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from
the sensitivity analysis below and the difference could be material An equivalent
mcrease or decrease in Nikkei 225 Index shown below would have resulted in an

equivalent impact.

Changes m Nikkei 225 Changes m

Index NAV

From 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 -10.79% S119%
From 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 -1.16% -131%

Concentration of market risk expasure

Asg of 31 March 2020 and 2019, all of the equity securities are listed in Japan. The
conceniration of market nsk by geographical location is managed by the

diversification of investment in various industry sectors.

An mdustry sector analysis of the Fund’s fimancial assets at fair value through profit

or loss 13 as follows:
2020 2019
JEY JBY
Advanced Materials and Products 83,277,500 -
Apparel 16,924 200 20,140,200
Aundio and Video Products 21,673,300 -
Building - Heavy Construction 90,516,400 -
Building - Residential & Commercial 30 804 400 -
Building & Censtruction - Miscellansous 27353700 -
Building & Construction Products - Miscellaneous 17,793,600 -
Building Products - Lighting Fixtures 16,060,000 -
Building Products - Wood 2,465,000 -
Ceramic products 135,016,179 134,425 819
Chemicals 2,052,549 400 2413 376,199
Coatings and Pamt 3,826,800 -
Commercial Services 12,471,200 14,715 200
Computer equipment, service and software 5,904 B81 408 6,336, 775,304
Distribution and wholesale 751,840,403 729026402
Diversified Banking 1,435 438 800 -
Electric & electromics products 1,869 344 005 2.534.001,050
Electric Products - Miscellaneous 30,650,100 -
Electromic Measurmg Instruments 8,316,000 -
Electromic Parts Distributors 93 492 400 -
Engimesring 301 488,100 223,720,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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17. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (contmmued)
(a) Market Risk (contimmed)

Concentration gf market risk exposure (contimned)

2020 2019

JEY JBFY
E-zervices & consultng 248,843 399 248,784,000
Finance & investment bank 4,036,679,.002 3,371,202 404
Food 206,384,000 380,332,000
Footwear (Non-Athletic) & related apparel 389,008,000 333,681,400
Golf 230058 407 338,604,405
Import/Export 833,475,300 133,100,000
Leisure and recreational products 78,699 600 103,572,000
Machinery 750,314,700 40 287 999
Metal - Diverzified 1,333,300 -
Metal Products - Distributors 72,438,000 -
Miscellaneons Mamfacturing 90 748,700 -
Real estate development and management 1,049 178,730 -
REITS 4,950,467,603 6,256,023,000
Retail - Catalog Shopping T1,717.100 -
Steel - Specialty 201,600 -
Steel Pipe & Tube 10,329,200 -
Telecom and telephone 1,028 580,497 2.120,958,002
Telecommumication Equipment 1,740,000 -
Textile product 808,503,000 212,217,000
Total 27.975,005,033 28,285,344 384

An mdustry sector analysis of the Fund’s financial habilities at fair valne through
profit or loss is as follows:

2020 2019

JPY TPY
Retail - 3826857098
Total - 3826857008

The Fund contimucusly monitors the financial performance of the counterparties and
does not expect any material losses as a result of this concentration.
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31 March 2020

17. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (contmmued)

() Liquidity Risk

Ligmdity risk is the risk that the Fond will encounter difficulty in raismg fimds to meet
commitments associated with financial liabilities. Ligmidity risk may result from an inability
to settle a financial Liability quickly at an amount close to its fair value.

The Fund’s exposure to Liquidity risk is relatively low as shareholders are allowed to redeem
investments on a monthly basis. Further, to prevent a short-term liguidity problem which may
be camsed by hmge redemptions in a single dealing day to the Fund, the Manager is entitled at
its discretion to linit the agpregate of the mumber of shares redeemed to 10% of the total
mumber of redesmable participating shares in issne. The Manager may also suspend the right
of shareholders to require redemption of their shares and'or may delay the payment of the
redemption price during any period when the deternmination of the net asset value of the Fund
i3 suspended.

In addition, the Fund maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet normal operating
Tequirements.

Maturity analysis of financial asset and financial liabilities

Fmancial assets of the Fund comprise financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
dividends recervable, cash and cash equivalents and margim deposits. There is no contractual
maturity on the financial assets except for dividend receivables which are typically settled
within 30 days and 90 days. Financial liabilities of the Fund compnse financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss, amounts due to prime broker, dividends payable on finaneial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, redemption payable and other payable and
accruals and net assets attributable to holders of redesmable participating shares. Except for
net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares as disclosed in Note 12
and dividends payable on financial hiabilities at fair value throngh profit or loss which are
typically settled within 30 days and 90 days, the other financial liabilities have no confractual
matunty.

Credit nisk relates to the extent to which the Fund could be impacted by faillures by
counterparties to discharge their obligations or comumitment they have entered into with the
Fund. It could reduce the amount of future cash flows from financial assets on hand as at the
end of reporting date.

The carrying amount of financial assets best represents the maximum credit risk exposure at
the end of the reporting date. This relates also to financial assets carmed at amortised cost, as
they have a short-term to maturity. This does not represent the maxinmm nsk exposure that
could arise in the future as a result of changes in values, but represents the current maxinmm
exposure at the reporting date. For the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, since
all of the financial assets are pubhicly listed m recogmsed market in Japan, the credit nsk
exposure 15 considered to be relatively low.
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136/215



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TE1l JLIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2020

17. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (contmmued)
(c) Credit Risk

Az of the end of the reportimg date_ the Fund’s financial assets exposed to credit risk amounted
to JEY29,566,765,301 (2019: JFY32.766,092.227), which represented the carrying amounts
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, dividend receivables, margin deposits
and cash and cash equivalents as presented in the statement of financial posiien. As of 31
March 2020 and 2019, all of the Fund’s investment positions are held by the prime broker.

The Fund helds no collateral as secunity o any other credit enhancements (2019: Nil). There
are no financial assets that are past due or mpaired or would otherwise be past due or

impaired except for the terms having been renegotiated (2019: Nil).

Concentration of credit risk exposure

Substantially all of the cash and securities are held by HSBC located in Hong Kong and
Goldman Sachs International in London, the Fund's prime broker. Bankmiptey or insolvency
by them may cause the Fund’s rights with respect to the cash held by them to be delayed or
liniited The Fund monitors its nsk by memitoring the credit quality and financial pesitions of
them If the credit quality or the finaneial position of them detenorates sigmificantly. the
Manager will move the cash holdings to another bank and financial institition as soon as
practical. The related credit ratings from Standard & Poor’s (“5&P7) for HSBC i1s "AA-"
(2019: A) whle “A+™ for Goldman Sachs Intemnational (2019: A+).

Financial assets subject to IFRS 9's impairment requirements

The Fund’s financial assets subject to the ECL model within IFRS 9 are dividends receivable,
margin deposits and cash and cash equivalents. At 31 December 2019, the total amomnt of
these finaneial assets is JPY1,591,760,268 (2019: JPY3,820,747,243), on which no loss
allowance had been provided. No assets are considered impaired and no amounts have been

written off dunng the year.

Financial assets not subject to IFRS 9's impaivment requivements

The Fund is exposaed to credit risk on equity instruments. They are not subject to IFRS 9'3
impairment requirements as they are measured at far vale through profit or loss. The
carrying value of these assets, under IFRS 9 represents the Fund's maximum exposure to
credit risk on financial instruments not subject to the IFRS 9 impaimment requirements on the
respective reporting dates. Hence, no separate maximum exposure to credit risk disclosure 13
provided for these mstruments.

18.  EVENTS AFTER. THE REPORTING DATE
Subsequent to the reporting date and up to the date of the financial statements, 6,000 redeemable
participating shares were redeemed for total redemption payments of JPY1,208,609,416. There were
no other matenal events to be disclosed after the reporting date.

19.  APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Directors on 10 July 2020.
30
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2020 3 31
2020 2019

743,597 77,780 791,345 82,775

25,200 2,636 25,911 2,710
13,332,652 1,394,595 12,417,525 1,298,873
14,101,449 1,475,012 13,234,781 1,384,358

678,059 70,925 723,485 75,677
13,423,390 1,404,087 12,511,296 1,308,682
13,423,390 1,404,087 12,511,296 1,308,682
1,000,000 104,600 1,000,000 104,600
12,423,390 1,299,487 11,511,296 1,204,082
13,423,390 1,404,087 12,511,296 1,308,682
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2020 3 31
2020 2019

9,837,822 1,029,036 14,922,535 1,560,897
7,850 821 4,305 450

2,939 307 81,984 8,576
(8,936,517) (934,760) (13,588, 229) (1,421,329)
912,094 95,405 1,420,595 148,594
912,094 95,405 1,420,595 148,594
912,094 95,405 1,420,595 148,594
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2020 3 31
2018 4 1 1,000,000 104,600 10,090,701 1,055,487 11,090,701 1,160,087
1,420,595 148,594 1,420,595 148,594
2019 3 31 1,000,000 104,600 11,511,296 1,204,082 12,511,296 1,308,682
912,094 95,405 912,094 95,405
2020 3 31 1,000,000 104,600 12,423,390 1,299,487 13,423,390 1,404,087
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2020 3 31

2020 2019
912,094 95,405 1,420,595 148,594
(7.850) (821) (4,305) (450)
904,244 94,584 1,416,290 148,144
47,748 4,994 3,969,654 415,226
711 74 289 30
(45,426) (4,752) (3,602,464) (376,818)
907,277 94,901 1,783,769 186,582
7,850 821 4,305 450
7,850 821 4,305 450
915,127 95,722 1,788,074 187,033
12,417,525 1,298,873 10,629,451 1,111,841
13,332,652 1,394,595 12,417,525 1,298,873
13,332,652 1,394,595 12,417,525 1,298,873
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2.13.

2020 2019
9,837,822 10,277,724
4,644,811
9,837,822 14,922,535
7,850 4,305
9,845,672 14,926,840
2020 2019
2,939 81,984
2020 2019
9,997 9,873
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2020 2019
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30
12(b)
2020 2019
668,062 711,854
9,997 11,631
678,059 723,485
2020 2019
2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2020

2020 019
Note Uss Uss
Current assets
Accounts receivable 7 743,597 791,345
Prepayments 25,200 25911
Cash and bank balances 13,332,652 12,417,525
14,101,449 13,234,781
Current liabilities
Aceounts payable and aceruals 8 678,059 723,485
MNet current assels 13,423,390 12,511,296
MNet assets 13,423,390 12,511,296
Capital and reserves
Share capital 9 1,000,000 1,000,000
Reserves 12,423,390 11,511,296
13,423,390 12,511,296
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2020

2020 2019
Note Uss Uss
Revenue 3 0,837,822 14,922,535
Other operating income 3 7.850 4,305
Other net gain 4 2,939 81,984
Other operating expenses (8,936,517 (13,588,229
Profit before tax 5 012,094 1,420,595
Taxation b - -
Profit for the year 912,094 1,420,595
Other comprehensive income for the year - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 912,004 1,420,595
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2020

Share capital Reserves Total

Uss Uss Uss

Total equity as at 1 April 2018 1,000,000 10,090,701 11,090,701
Total comprehensive income for the year - 1,420,595 1,420,595
Total equity as at 31 March 2019 1,000,000 11,511,296 12,511,296
Total comprehensive income for the year - 912,094 912,094
Total equity as at 31 March 2020 1,000,000 12,423,390 13,423,390
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2020

2020 2019
Uss Uss
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 912,094 1,420,595
Adjustment for:
Interest income (7,850) (4,305)
904,244 1,416,290
Decrease in accounts receivable 47748 3,969 654
Decrease in prepayments 711 289
Decrease in accounts payable and aceruals (45,426) (3,602,464)
Met cash from operating activities Q07,277 1,783,769
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 7,850 4,305
Met eash from investing activities 7,850 4,305
Met inerease in cash and cash equivalents 915,127 1,788,074
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 12,417,525 10,629.451
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 13,332,652 12,417,525
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances 13,332,652 12,417,525
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Motes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

1.  General information
Tower Asset Management Limited is a company incorporated in the Cayman [slands with limited liability. Its
registered office is located at PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman [slands.

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of fund management services. The Company is
registered as a Registered Person under section 6 of the Securities Investment Business Law (2019 Revision)
of the Cayman 1slands in January 2020,

The immediate holding Company is Tower Investment Management Co., Limited, which is a private limited
company incorporated in Tokyo, Japan. The ultimate holding Company is The Seven Finance Limited, which
is a private limited company incorporated in British Virgin Islands.

2. Significant accounting policies

2.1. Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), which collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (HKICPA), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Company is set out below.,

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for carly
adaption for the current accounting period of the Company. Information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Company for
the current and prior accounting pericds reflected in these financial statements is provided in note 2.3,

2.2. Basis of preparation of financial statements
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis,

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
Judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses, The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carryving values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 13.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.3, The impact of new/revised HKFRSs
In the current year, the Company has applied, for the first time, the following new and revised standards,
amendments and interpretation (collectively referred to as the "new and revised HKFRSs") issued by
HKICPA, which are effective for the Company's financial year beginning from 1 April 2019, A summary of
the new and revised HKFRSs applied by the Company is set out as follows:

Amendments to HEFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Megative Compensation
HEKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HIKAS 19 Employee Benefits

Amendments to HEAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
HK ([FRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 cyele

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs and an interpretation in the current year has had no
material impact on the Company's financial position and performanece for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in the financial statements.

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 Mareh 2020 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements,

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impaet of these amendments, new
standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the directors of the Company
completed a detailed review.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

MNotes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.4, Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Company's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilitics are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of
reporting peried, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively,

2.5, Foreign currencies translations
{a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). This financial statements are presented
in United States dollars ("USE™), which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.

{b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions, Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

-10-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

2. Sipgnificant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.6, Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised by reference to each distinet performance obligation in
the contract with the customer, Revenue from contracts with customers is measured at the transaction price,
being the amount of consideration which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring
the promised goods or services to the customer, net of taxes. The transaction price is allocated to each
performance obligation of each distinet good or service promised in the contract. The basis of allocation is that
allowed by HKFRS 15 Depending on the substance of the contract, revenue is recognised when the
performance obligation is satisfied, which may be at a point in time or over time.

Income from financial services is recognised over time as services rendered.

Income from management and other related financial services is accounted for in profit or loss when the
relevant services have been rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis on the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable.

2.7. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short term, highly liquid investment that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafis that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company's cash
management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of
cash flows,

2.8, Related parties
{a) A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Company if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Company;
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or

(iii} is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the Company's parent.

=11 =
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

2.

2.8.

19

Significant accounting policies (cont'd)
Related parties (cont'd)
(b) An entity is related 1o the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

{iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
{iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v} The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company or
an entity related to the Company.

{(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a){i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealing with the entity.

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability
ar equity instrument of another entity. A financial asset or a financial liability will be recognised when, and
only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial
recognition, financial instruments are accounted for at trade date basis and measured at fair value plus or
minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss ("FVTPL"), transaction costs thereon. After initial recognition, financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value or at amortised cost based on their respective business models, contractual cash flows
characteristics and classifications.

S17-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Motes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

2. Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.9. Financial instruments {cont'd)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets other than those measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income ("FVTOCI™) are classified as financial assets at FYTPL. Financial assets that are classified as held for
trading or are designated at FVTPL at initial recognition for the purposes of avoiding accounting mismatch are
classified as FVTOCI too, Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges. After initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value prior to the deduction of
transaction costs. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value or otherwise are recognised in profit or
loss. Such gains or losses are presented separately from interest and dividends.

Financial assets at amovtised cost

Mon-derivative debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for
collection of contractual cash flows and have specified settlement dates with fixed or determinable payments
of principal and interest thereon are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. After initial recognition,
financial assets at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using effective interest method, less credit
loss allowances. Interest income together with gains or losses resulting from derecognition are recognised in
profit or loss.

At each reporting date, expected credit losses are recognised for individual or collective financial assets at
amortised cost in profit or loss, The amounts of expected credit losses are measured at the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows and the expected future cash flows.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Mon-derivative financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market
are classificd as financial liabilities at amortised cost, After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised
cost are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest methed. All financial liabilities at amortised
cost are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has a pre-defined repayment schedule or an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period,
Interest expenses are recognised in profit or loss, When the borrowing agreement contains clause that gives
the lender unconditional right to demand repayment at any time disregarding the pre-defined repayment
schedule, the financial liabilities at amortised cost is presented as a current liability in the statement of
financial position irrespective of the probability that the lender will invoke the clause without cause.

13-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

MNotes to Financial Statements
For the vear ended 31 March 2020

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.9, Financial instruments {cont'd)

Reclassification of financial asseis

Financial assets, but not financial liabilities, are re-classifiable when the business model applicable to a
financial asset or a class of financial assets has changed. For the financial assets reclassified out of amortised
cost measurement category, their carrying amount are restated at their respective fair value at the
reclassification date; any differences are recognised in profit or loss (for those reclassified into FVTPL
measurement category) or other comprehensive income (for those reclassified into financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") measurement category). For the financial assets reclassified
out of FYTPL measurement category into FVTOCI measurement category or vice versa, they are continued to
be measured at fair value; cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income, if
any, is reclassified to profit or loss as reclassification adjustment. For the financial assets reclassified out of
FVTPL measurement category into amortised cost measurement category, their fair value at the
reclassification date becomes their new gross carrying amount. For financial assets reclassified from FVTOCI
measurement category into amortised cost measurement category, their carrying amount will be adjusted as if
they had always been measured at amortised cost; the adjusted amount will be recognised in cumulative gain
or loss of the financial assets previously recognised in other comprehensive income, After reclassification, the
reclassified financial assets will be measured in accordance with the accounting policies of the new categories,

Derecognition of financial assets

When the contractual rights to the cash flows from financial assets expire or substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of financial assets are transferred, the financial assets will be derecognised. The rights
and obligations created or retained in the transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilities. However, if
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are retained, the financial
assets will not be derecognised. In this situation, the transferred financial assets will be recognised in their
entirety and the considerations received, if any, will be recognised as financial liabilities. In subsequent
periods, income on the transferred financial assets and expense incurred on the recognised financial liabilities
will be recognised in profit or loss separately. In the case substantially all the risks and rewards of cwnership
of transferred financial assets are neither transferred nor retained, the transferred financial assets will be
recognised to the extent of the Company's continuous involvement if the Company retains control over the
financial assets; otherwise, the financial assets will be derecognised and the rights and obligations created or
retained in the transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilities. The difference of the carrying amount
of the transferred assets which are qualified for derecognition and the sum of consideration received
{including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial labilities

When the obligation of financial liabilities specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires, the
financial liabilities are regarded as extinguished and are removed from the statement of financial position. An
exchange of liabilities or substantial modification of the terms of existing financial liabilities are also
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liabilities. Gain or loss on derecognition of
financial liabilities is recognised in profit or loss.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

2.  Significant accounting policies (contd)

2.10. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-eceurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Company, It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation
cannot be measured reliably, When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is
probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-cecurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of
the Company, When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

2.11. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constriuctive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision, including those arising from the contractual obligation specified in the
service concession arrangement to maintain or restore the infrastructure before it is handed over to the grantor,
is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated 1o settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

2.12. Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at transaction price and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less lifetime expected credit losses.

2.13. Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are measured at initial recognition at the fair value (including transaction costs) and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,

=15-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

3. Revenue and other income

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of fund management services, Revenue and other
income recognised during the year are as follows:

2020 2019
Uss Uss
Revenue
Management fee 9837822 10,277,724
Performance fee - 4,644,811
9.837,822 14,922,535
Other operating ineome
Bank interest income 7850 4,305
0,845,672 14,926,840
4. Other net gain
2020 2019
Uss Uss
Met exchange gain 2,939 81,984
5. Profit before tax
2020 2019
USss USss
Profit before tax is stated afier charging:
Auditor's remuneration
- Provision for the year 9,997 9,873
- Under-provision in prior year 128 113
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

[

TI‘

Taxation

The Company has applied for and has received an undertaking from the Governor-in-Council of the Cayman
Islands that, in accordance with section 6 of the Tax Concessions Law (2011 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
for a period of 20 years from 15 July 2008, no law which is enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing any tax to
be levied on profits, income, gains or appreciations or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax
shall apply to the Company or its operations.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as, in the opinion of the directors, the Company did
not generate any assessable profits in Hong Kong during the year (2019: Nil),

There was no unprovided deferred tax in respect of the year and as at the end of reporting period (201%9: Mil).

Accounts receivable

2020 2019
USs Uss
Accounts receivahle 743,597 701,345

The Company allows a eredit period of 30 days in respect of the accounts receivable arising from the business
of provision of fund management services,

The Company’s credit policy is set out in note 12(b).

Account payable and aceruals

2020 2019
Uss Uss
Accounts payable 668,062 711,854
Accruals 9,997 11,631
678,050 723,485
Share capital
2020 2019
USss US%
Authorised
2,000,000 ordinary shares of US$1 cach 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid
1,000,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each 1,000,000 1,000,000
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

9.  Share capital (cont'd)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the
Company's residual assets.

10. Capital management

Capital comprises of share capital and reserves stated on the statement of financial position. The Company's
ohjective in managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders.

The Company manages capital by regularly monitoring its current and expected liquidity requirement rather
than using debt/equity ratio analyses.

The Company's strategy is to maintain a solid capital base to support the operations and development of its
business in the long term.

The Company was registered as an Excluded Person by Cayman Islands Monctary Authority and subjected to
externally requirement specified by the Japan Securities Dealers Association to maintain its minimum net
asset value of 50 million Japanese Yen.

11. Related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Company
entered into the following material related party transactions:

2020 2019

Uss Uss
Agency fee to the holding company (note a) OR4,020 1,027,701
Administrative service fee to the holding company (note b) 1,969,858 2,055,402
Management fee from related funds (note ¢) 9,837,822 10,277,724
Performance fee from related funds (note d) - 4,644,811
Investment advisory fee to the holding company (note e) 5,909,572 0,166,206
Performance fee to the holding company (note £) - 4,267,930
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Motes to Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020
11. Related party transactions (cont'd)

Motes:

(a) The Company entered into an agency agreement with the holding company. Aceording to the agreement,
the Company appointed the holding company to provide administrative services relating to the fund
managed by the Company. The fee was calculated based on agreed percentage of the management fee
received by the Company.

(b) Administrative service fees were in relation to administrative services provided by the holding company.
The fees were calculated based on agreed percentage of the net asset value of the investment funds or
based on agreed percentage of the management fee received by the Company.

{c) The management fee was calculated based on agreed percentage of the net asset value of the funds in
accordance with the explanatory memorandums of the funds,

{d) The performance fee was caleulated in accordance with formula defined in the explanatory memorandum
of the funds.

(&) The Company entered into an investment advisory agreement with the holding company. Pursuant to the
agreement, the Company appointed the holding company to provide investment advisory services to funds
managed by the Company. The Company paid investment advisory fees to the holding company which
were calculated based on agreed percentage of the management fees received by the Company.

{f) The Company entered into an investment advisory agreement with the holding company. The Company
paid the performance fee to the holding company which ealeulated in accordance with formula defined in
the agreement.

12, Financial risk management

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk,
cash flows and fair value interest rate risk), eredit risk, and liguidity risk. These risks are mitigated by the
Company's financial management policies and practices described below:

-19-

173/215



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

12. Financial risk management (cont'd)

{a) Market risk
(i)  Foreign currency risk
The Company is exposed to foreign eurrency risk through certain income and expenses that are
settled in Hong Kong dollars (HKD) and Japanese Yen (JPY) (2019: HKD and JPY). As HEKD is
pegged to USD, the Company does not expeel any significant movements in the HKDVUSD
exchange rate. The Company is mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from fulure
transactions that are denominated in JPY. The management monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 March 2020, if JPY has strengthened/weakened by 2% (2019: 4%) against USD with all other
variables held constant, profit for the year and equity would have been approximately TUSE5,000
(2019: approximately US$6,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gainf{loss) on
translation of foreign currencies denominated bank balances. The 2% (2018: 4%) represents
management's assessment of the likely maximum change in JPY exchange rate over the period until
the end of the next reporting period.

(i) Cash flows and fair value interest rate risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing
assets. The Company's policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available for its deposits,

As at 31 March 2020, the profit after tax of the Company would have been decreasedfinereased by
approximately USE6T000 (2019: approximately USE60,000) if the market interest rate had been
increased/decreased by 50 basis points with all other variables held constant. The 50 basis points
increase/decrease represents management's assessment of the likely maximum change in interest
rates over the period until the end of the next reporting pericd. The analysis does not take into
account exposure to fair value interest rate risk arising from fixed rate instruments as the Company
does not hold any fixed rate instruments which are measured at fair value in the financial statements.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2019,

i(b) Credit risk
The Company's principal financial assets are bank balances, and account and other receivables,
All account and other receivables are neither past due nor impaired as of the end of reporting period. In
addition, management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to credit risk are monitored on an
ongoing basis,

The eredit risk on bank deposits placed in a bank is limited because the bank is an authorised financial
institution with high eredit rating.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

12. Financial risk management (cont'd)

(b} Credit risk (cont'd)
The Company's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. At the end of reporting period, the Company has a concentration of credit risk as 1002 (2019:
100%) of total trade and other receivables were due from funds managed by the Company.

Other than concentration of credit risks on amounts due from funds managed by the Company and liquid
funds which are deposited with a bank with high credit rating, the Company does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.

(c) Ligquidity risk
The Company regularly monitors current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
adequate cash to meet its financial obligations and to fund its operating expenses on an on-going basis.
The liquidity of the Company is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain adequate cash inflow from
operations to meet its debt obligations.

The maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities as at the end of reporting period, based on the
contracted undiscounted payment, was as follows:

Total
contractual Maore than 1 Mouore than 2
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year  year but less  years but less
amount cash low  or on demand than 2 years than 5 years
Uss uss uss Uss USss
2020
Accounts payable
and aceruals 678,059 678,059 678,050 - -
2019
Accounts payable
and accruals 723,485 713,485 723,485 - -

(d) Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis,

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the financial statements approximate to their fair values,
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Motes to Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020

13.  Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.,

Estimated impairment of receivables

The Company tests annually whether account and other receivables have suffered any impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2.9 to the financial statements and make provisions for
impairment accordingly.

14.  Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson = 7 9 UL 7078
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Independent Auditors Report

The Trustee
Tower K1 J-Fund
(A unit trust constituted by a Trust Deed under the laws of the Cayman Islands)

Report on the Audit of the Financia Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Tower K1 J-Fund (the “Fund”) which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notesto
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in al material respects, the financial
position of the Fund as at 31 March 2020 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (I1SAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Other Information

Other information consists of the management and administration listing. Management is responsible for
the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility isto read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and the Trustee for the Financia Statements
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Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for ng the Fund's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations,
or has no realistic aternative but to do so.

The Trustee is responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.

Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our report is made solely to you, as abody, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance isa high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with | SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund' s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonabl eness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
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or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern.

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditors, report to the related disclosuresin the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors, report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to
cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evauate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in amanner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Trustee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficienciesin internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Ernst & Young Ltd.

10 July 2020

)

210/215



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020 31
HKICPA HKFRSs
2020 31
HKICPA HKSAs
HKICPA
HKICPA HKFRSs
HKSAs
HKSAs

211/215



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FTW CPA

2020 22

: P5214

212/215



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

I ndependent Auditor's Report to the Members of
Tower Asset Management Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Tower Asset Management Limited ("the Company") set out
on pages 4 to 22 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give atrue and fair view of the financia position of the Company
asat 31 March 2020, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Ingtitute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA").

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethicsfor Professional Accountants ("the Code"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of directors and those charged with governance for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give atrue and fair view in
accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for ng the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic aternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Our objectives are to obtain
reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.

213/215



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Reasonable assurance isa high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HK SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of interna control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonabl eness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financia statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to ceaseto
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in amanner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficienciesin interna

control that we identify during our audit.

FTW & Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 22 July 2020
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